

Fóod Insecurity

National Day of Action 2023



Table of Contents

Acknowledgements	4
Introduction	5
Our Asks	7
Sub-Populations Affected by Food Insecurity	9
Food insecurity prevalence across Canada	9
Household structures disproportionately affected by food insecurity	9
Food insecurity disproportionately affects households with low incomes and limited assets	10
Food insecurity in racialized communities (BIPOC households)	10
Benefits of Food Security	12
Cost Benefit Analysis of Food Security	13
Policy Evidence and Current Landscape	15
Integration Barriers	18
The Present State	18
Historical Social Determinant of Health Landscape in Canada	20
References	21

Acknowledgements

<u>Topic Selection Committee</u>: We would like to extend our gratitude to the Topic Selection Committee members that researched and shortlisted topics for advocacy for the National Day of Action (NDoA). Their advocacy is the reason Food Security was selected as this year's CFMS NDoA Topic.

Aly Fawzy, University of Toronto
Maya Naidu, University of British Columbia
Ye-Jean Park, University of Toronto
Varunaavee Sivashanmugathas, University of Toronto
Shirley Xu, Dalhousie University

Research Sub-committee: We would like to acknowledge the members of the Day of Action Research Committee for the tremendous amount of time and effort that you have dedicated to researching, compiling and writing this backgrounder.

Sanya Grover, University of British Columbia Sameera Khalid, Western University Ashwin Rao, Queen's University Peri Ren, Western University Jessie Tu, University of Toronto <u>Partnerships Sub-committee</u>: We would like to extend thanks to this team for diligently consulting stakeholders to ensure our asks were aligned with the work of all the other organizations and individuals who have long been advocating on this topic.

Herman Dayal, Western University Han Zhang Huang, McGill University Ye-Jean Park, University of Toronto Aditya Rao, Queen's University Jocelyn Tamura, McMaster University Jessie Tu, University of Toronto

Stakeholders: We appreciate all the individuals and organizations for their valuable input that have shaped our backgrounder. Particular thanks to <u>Tim Li from PROOF</u> who provided extensive feedback and suggestions on our asks and backgrounder.

With deepest gratitude and appreciation,

Sonu Varghese	Amna Majeed	Chaten Jessel
Queen's University	University of Toronto	University of Calgary
National Officer of Political Action 2022-23	Director of Government Affairs 2022-23	Director of Government Affairs 2023-24

Introduction

Food security is a fundamental human right and refers to the ability of individuals, households, and communities to access safe, nutritious, and culturally appropriate food regularly through local non-emergency sources.¹ However, many Canadians struggle with <u>food insecurity</u>, which can be defined as the <u>inadequate or insecure access to food due to financial constraints</u> or other barriers, which can lead to reduced food intake, poorer health outcomes, and other negative consequences.² Food sovereignty is another related concept that emphasizes the right of individuals and communities to control their food systems and have access to healthy, culturally appropriate food. On the other hand, food deserts refer to areas with limited access to healthy food options, such as grocery stores, farmers' markets, and other sources of fresh produce.

Food insecurity, as it is conceptualized in Canada, exists on a spectrum divided into marginal, moderate, and severe food insecurity. Marginal food insecurity refers to worry or uncertainty about food quality, variety, or sufficiency of food. Moderate food insecurity refers to a compromise on the quality and quantity of food and severe food insecurity refers to food deprivation and hunger.³ The prevalence of food insecurity in Canada is a pressing concern. In 2022, over 1 in 6 Canadians lived in food-insecure households, representing approximately 6.9 million individuals and the highest recorded rate.⁴ The percentage of people living in food-insecure households varies across provinces, with PEI and New Brunswick having the highest rates, at 23.6% and 22.7%, respectively, and Quebec having the lowest at 14.7%.⁴ Among the territories, Nunavut has the highest food insecurity rate, at 46.1%.⁵

Several socio-economic factors such as low income, unemployment, inadequate social assistance, and high housing costs increase the risk of food insecurity. Consequently, certain communities are disproportionately impacted by food insecurity, including Indigenous peoples and racialized communities, due to systemic barriers and discrimination. In 2022, 39.2% of Black people and 33.4% of Indigenous Peoples lived in a food-insecure household, compared to 15.3% of people who were not a visible minority nor Indigenous.^{2,6,7} Households headed by single parents, particularly women, are also disproportionately affected by food insecurity.^{8–11} Additionally, households with children are more likely to experience food insecurity, with nearly 1 in 4 Canadian children in the 10 provinces – or nearly 1.8 million – living in food-insecure households.¹² Additionally, geographic location and transportation barriers can also limit access to affordable and nutritious food, particularly in rural and remote areas.

The downstream impacts of food insecurity are significant and wide-ranging, affecting physical, mental, and social wellbeing, particularly in vulnerable populations. Adults and children living in food-insecure households have poorer quality diets with higher ultra-processed food consumption and lower nutrient density.^{13,14} Research has also shown that moderate or severe food insecurity leads to greater risk of developing type 2 diabetes.¹⁵ However, implications of

food insecurity for health extend far beyond nutrition. Adults in food-insecure households are also more likely to have a wide range of chronic physical and mental health conditions, including heart disease, hypertension, depression, or anxiety, and be diagnosed with multiple conditions. The consequences from the difficulty of managing existing health problems when food-insecure are grave; adults in food insecure households in Canada are more likely to be hospitalized, stay in acute care for longer, require other health care services, and die prematurely from all causes, except cancer. 18–20

In summary, food insecurity is a complex issue that affects individuals and communities across Canada, with certain populations disproportionately impacted. Understanding the distribution of food insecurity is critical for effective policy and advocacy efforts to address the root causes of food insecurity and systemic barriers and promote health equity. As future healthcare professionals, medical students have a responsibility to address social determinants of health, including food insecurity. It is crucial to recognize that food insecurity is not simply an individual or family issue, but rather a systemic issue rooted in socio-economic inequalities and inadequate policies. Addressing food insecurity requires multi-sectoral approaches that include policy changes, community-based initiatives, and advocacy efforts. By raising awareness and advocating for policy changes that address food insecurity, medical students can contribute to promoting health equity and reducing health disparities. Furthermore, medical students can work alongside community organizations and engage in initiatives that increase food access and support local food systems. By prioritizing food security in their advocacy efforts and targeting interventions towards the communities and households most impacted, medical students can work towards a more equitable and just food system for all Canadians.

Our Asks

1. Make food insecurity a policy objective and target its reduction through policy-making

- While there are many existing policies we know to impact food insecurity, there has been no policy action targeting the reduction in food insecurity rates, nor has food insecurity been a consideration for income policy design.
- Currently, there are only policies that have been narrowly focused on supporting the charitable food sector.
- The Community Food Centres Canada suggests an ideal goal would be a 50% reduction amongst those that experience severe food insecurity by 2030. Setting a target can support the development of a strategy for food insecurity reduction and guide the design of existing and future policies and income supports.

2. Work with Indigenous Peoples and Northerners to co-create a strategy to address the extreme vulnerability to food insecurity in the North

- Multiple studies have now demonstrated that food insecurity has gotten worse following the introduction of Nutrition North, signaling that a food subsidy may not be the right approach since it's not addressing poverty, other costs of living, and the structural inequities from colonialism. There is a need for a strategy that is led by Indigenous Peoples and Northerners and sets out to improve the financial circumstances of food-insecure households through adequate income supports and support Indigenous food sovereignty and self-determination.
- A 2021 report by the Standing Committee on Indigenous and Northern Affairs called on the government to recognize that food insecurity cannot be solved by the Nutrition North Canada program in its current form, and to work with Inuit peoples towards Inuit-led reformation of the program and new poverty reduction initiatives.

3. Improve supports to low-income families through the Canada Child Benefit (CCB)

- The Canada Child Benefit is a major federal policy that supports the incomes of families with children, yet 1 in 4 Canadian children now live in a food-insecure household. As an established policy lever, it could be something that is easier for the government to act on if they wanted to.
- Although the benefit already provides more money to lower income households, the high percentage of children living in food insecure households tells us that more needs to be done to support these families. Increases to the benefit amount for low-income households is an evidence supported way to reduce the risk of household food insecurity.

- Redistributing the CCB benefit so that more of the current funds are provided to the lowest income households is one potential cost-neutral option to improve the benefit's impact on food insecurity.
- Another part of enhancing the CCB could be to increase the amounts for children over 6 to match those currently provided for those under 6 (currently up to ~\$1000 per child per year). Research has shown that the extra money provided has a measurable impact on food insecurity.
- There should be considerations for increasing the amount of benefit for families living in Nunavut and other remote Northern communities, recognizing the higher costs of living.

4. Establishing an adequate income floor for working-age adults and their families

- Research has repeatedly shown that household food insecurity can be reduced by policy interventions that improve the financial circumstances of households at the bottom of the income spectrum. When food-insecure households receive additional income, they spend it in ways that improve their food security.
- Establishing an income floor for working-age adults and their families through a basic income program has the potential to greatly reduce food insecurity, as demonstrated by the low rates of food insecurity for households relying on public seniors pensions, which act as an income floor for Canadian seniors. The federal government should investigate a basic income program in collaboration with provincial/territorial governments and/or redesign existing federal programs like Canada Child Benefit and Canada Workers Benefit to establish a comparable income floor.
 - Community Food Centres Canada (CFCC) and Maytree, a national poverty policy think tank, have proposed a Canadian Working-Age Supplement, a reimagining of the Canada Workers Benefit, which is a more adequate and stable income for low-income single adults, particularly those relying on provincial/territorial social assistance programs.

Sub-Populations Affected by Food Insecurity

Food insecurity prevalence across Canada

The latest Canadian Income Survey (CIS) data from Statistics Canada shows that in 2022,18.6% of people in the ten provinces lived in households with inadequate and insecure access to food due to financial constraints.¹²

Food insecurity varies across the provinces. In 2022, the percentage of individuals living in food-insecure households was highest in the Atlantic provinces — 23.6% in P.E.I., 22.7% in New Brunswick, 22.5% in Newfoundland and Labrador, and 22.0% in Nova Scotia.

Province	Percentage of people living in food-insecure households
Newfoundland and Labrador	22.50%
Prince Edward Island	23.60%
Nova Scotia	22.00%
New Brunswick	22.70%
Québec	14.70%
Ontario	19.20%
Manitoba	19.60%
Saskatchewan	20.30%
Alberta	21.80%
British Columbia	16.80%

For as long as food insecurity has been monitored, the rates in the territories have been especially high. In 2022, nearly half of the people in Nunavut, 46.1%, lived in food-insecure households.

Household structures disproportionately affected by food insecurity

Household structure was found to be associated with increased risk of food insecurity.² Households with children are more likely to be food insecure, especially those led by lone female parents. Even after keeping household income, homeownership, province of residence, and other sociodemographic factors the same, lone female-led households are still twice as likely to be food insecure as couples without children.⁴ Intervening in households with children is

particularly important because, as proposed by the family stress model, families under economic strain are forced to make difficult decisions between necessities resulting in emotional distress and frustration which in turn, negatively impacts caregiving and children's well-being (ask #3).²¹ Unattached adults living alone are also face higher rates of food insecurity, highlighting the importance of examining income supports for single adults (ask #4).³

Food insecurity disproportionately affects households with low incomes and limited assets The core cause of food insecurity goes beyond just food; rather, it is rooted in inadequate income and requires policy upstream to charitable food assistance.²² Food insecurity has strong ties to poverty.^{23,24} Households with lower incomes are more likely to be food insecure and more severely so. (Ask #3 & 4)

While it may seem intuitive to believe that many of these low-income households are not part of the workforce, it was found that in 2021, 52% of food-insecure households were reliant on employment incomes.⁴ Simply having a job is not enough to ensure that households have enough money to afford the food they need.

Although employment is the main source of income for the majority of food insecure households, households relying on provincial/territorial social assistance or Employment Insurance have much higher rates of food insecurity. Whereas 13.7% of households reliant on employment income were food insecure in 2021, 63.1% of households relying on provincial social assistance and 38.5% of households relying on Employment Insurance were food insecure.⁴

It is generally understood that households who rent their home are typically of lower socioeconomic status than households who own their home. In 2021, 25.9% of renter households were food-insecure, compared to 13.9% of homeowners with a mortgage and 7.2% of mortgage-free homeowners.³ Renters also make up half of the households that experience food insecurity.³

A larger proportion of households with an immigrant in them were food-insecure in 2021 than households without any immigrants.⁴ However, presence of an immigrant was not shown to be an independent predictor of food insecurity in multivariate models; the elevated risk of food insecurity can be accounted for by differences in other household sociodemographic and household characteristics like household income, homeownership, and household structure.

Food insecurity in racialized communities (BIPOC households)

Food insecurity in Canada is a racialized issue. 6,8-10,25

In 2022, 39.2% of Black Canadians lived in food insecure households compared to 15.3% of Canadians identifying as not a visible minority nor Indigenous. Research on the disparity in food insecurity between Black and White people points to systemic racism in labour and housing that make Black people more vulnerable. Compared to their white counterparts, Black homeowners are still more likely to be food insecure, even after accounting for differences in household income, main source of income, and other sociodemographic characteristics. Homeownership is attributed to lower risk of food insecurity compared to renting. As such, the fact that Black homeowners are more likely to be food-insecure than white homeowners may reflect higher prevalence of mortgages or lower value households, resulting from systemic racism in the housing market. Black people living in households reliant on senior's pensions are also more likely to be food-insecure compared to their white counterparts, which may reflect difficulty building up assets before retirement due to precarious and low-paying jobs or other manifestations of racism in the labour market.

Indigenous populations also experience disproportionate levels of food insecurity. In 2022, 33.4% of Indigenous Peoples off-reserve in the ten provinces and 41.2% of Indigenous Peoples in the territories lived in food-insecure households. Since the CIS does not include individuals living on-reserve, the data do not represent the experience of First Nations people living on-reserve, who represent nearly half of status First Nations peoples in Canada. (Ask #2)

The First Nations Food, Nutrition and Environment Study (FNFNES), a collaborative community-based survey on on-reserve First Nations communities from 2008–2018, found that 48% of households on First Nations reserves were food-insecure.²⁷ Although the findings can not be directly compared with other surveys like the CIS, they underscore the dire circumstances that these communities face. Traditional foods and food sovereignty are also critically important - 47% also said that they had run out of traditional food before they could replenish their supplies.

In northern and remote contexts of Canada, patterns of food insecurity are linked to important considerations, including declining access to healthy and affordable foods, shifts to wage economy, climate change and other environmental changes, and the erosion of Indigenous knowledge. Urbanization, or living off-reserve, has become increasingly prevalent, which is accompanied by a nutrition transition characterized by decreased dietary diversity, declining access to traditional foods, and increased tendency towards fats, sugars, and processed foods. This can be attributed to ongoing and historic effects of colonial policies including residential schools and forced relocations which has led to a disruption of the relationships of Indigenous communities with their land.

Benefits of Food Security

Household food insecurity takes a serious toll on people's health and ability to manage health conditions. Taking policy action on alleviating food insecurity by ensuring households are able to afford enough food can improve Canadians' health and reduce healthcare costs and utilization.

Adults and children living in food-insecure households have poorer diets than those living in food secure households, marked by greater ultra-processed food consumption and less nutrient dense dietary intakes.¹⁴ Research has shown that adolescents and adults that lived in food insecure households had higher prevalences of nutritional inadequacies, including protein, vitamin A, thiamin, protein, vitamin A, thiamin, riboflavin, vitamin B-6, folate, vitamin B-12, magnesium, phosphorus, and zinc.¹³ Consuming nutritious foods including a healthy range of micro and macro nutrients ensures proper growth, development, and disease prevention. For example, micronutrients (e.g. vitamins and minerals) must be derived from the diet and are especially essential for the healthy growth and development of children. Micronutrients include iron, vitamin A, vitamin D, iodine, folate, and zinc.^{30,31} Nutrients such as iron are critical for motor and cognitive development, whereas vitamin A is crucial for healthy vision and the immune system. Research following adults over 10 years also found that those living in food-insecure households were more likely to be diagnosed with diabetes later in life.

However, the implications of living in a food-insecure household go far beyond poor nutrition, nutrition-related diseases, and other health conditions related to food. They are also evident almost from birth, with infants born to food-insecure mothers more likely to be treated in departments and unable breastfeeding emergency mothers follow optimal recommendations.^{32,33} Adults living in food-insecure households are more likely to experience various health problems, including infectious diseases, poor oral health, injury, and chronic conditions such as heart disease, hypertension, arthritis, back problems, and chronic pain. 17,34 They also have greater difficulty managing their conditions and are more likely to delay or forego prescription medicine due to inadequate funds.³⁵

There is also a very strong relationship between food insecurity and poor mental health. Adults and adolescents living in food insecure households are more likely to have depressive or suicidal thoughts, diagnosed mood or anxiety disorders, and major depressive episodes. Pregnant women in food-insecure households are more likely to develop postpartum depression. A Canadian health report showed during the COVID-19 pandemic, people living in food-insecure households were also more likely to report poorer mental health and increased symptoms of anxiety during the pandemic.³⁶ Furthermore, a study conducted by PROOF showed that adults living in food insecure households accounted for 1 in 3 hospitalizations due to mental health in Ontario.³⁷

Food insecurity significantly impacts children's mental well-being. Food insecurity during

childhood is associated with mental health challenges like hyperactivity and inattention. Experiences severe food insecurity (i.e. child hunger) can manifest as greater risks for depression and suicidal ideation later in life.^{38,39} Even children living in food-insecure households that only report deprivation among adults are still more likely to have anxiety and poor mental health.⁴⁰

Living in food insecure households also means compromises to people's ability to manage health conditions, like delaying or foregoing prescription medications due to their cost. Nearly half of adults living in severely food-insecure households reported delaying, reducing, or skipping medications because they could not afford them.³⁵ People living in food insecurity households are more likely to be hospitalized for physical and mental health conditions, require ER services, and die prematurely.^{18–20}

The tight link between food insecurity and poor health outcomes persists even after accounting for other social determinants of health like income, making food insecurity a potent, yet entirely modifiable, predictor of health. Reducing food insecurity would improve the health and wellbeing of the people living in these circumstances. Not only is there a moral imperative to reduce negative health outcomes, doing so would allow people to participate more fully in their families, work, and communities.

Cost Benefit Analysis of Food Security

Policy interventions aimed at improving the incomes of low-income households have been shown effective in reducing food insecurity. Expanding the supports provided to low-income households (e.g. through asks #3 & #4) inevitably comes with an additional cost.

To critically understand food security from the point of a cost-benefit analysis, it is first important to note the costs associated with food insecurity, especially expenditures incurred in healthcare services. There are major costs to inaction on food insecurity. One of the most well-evidenced is the burden on the healthcare system.

Studies done by PROOF have shown that adults in food-insecure households are more likely to be admitted into acute care for a wide range of reasons including mental disorders, injuries, digestive system diseases, circulatory system diseases, respiratory system diseases, and musculoskeletal diseases, and to stay in hospital longer. The healthcare costs associated with food insecurity are significant; in fact, even after adjusting for other social determinants of health (e.g. education and income levels), the healthcare costs incurred by a severely food-insecure adult in Ontario were found to be more than double that of a food-secure adult. The healthcare costs incurred by a severely food-insecure adult in Ontario was around \$3930, whereas the cost was around \$1608 for a food-secure adult. Another Ontario study found that food insecurity is the strongest predictor of being a high-cost health care user, someone who ranks in the top 5% of

total annual spending.42

Although asks #2, #3, and #4 may come with additional costs, effective reduction of food insecurity would be offset by reductions in healthcare costs, and other opportunity costs to persistent material deprivation like lost productivity. The cost of effective policy action could be managed through the redistribution of existing funds, particularly in the example of the restructuring of Canada Child Benefit (Ask#3). With this ask, funds currently used to provide the benefit to high income households, unlikely to face food insecurity, could be redirected towards larger benefits to those on the bottom end of the income spectrum. Establishing an income floor (Ask#4) through a basic income will require federal, provincial, and territorial collaboration and cost-sharing. Depending on the design, costs could be recovered through replacing some other existing income supports.

In any case, the harm to Canadian's health and well-being is too great to ignore the high rates of food insecurity. As a potent social determinant of health, the potential costs of policy action could be remediated by the savings associated with healthier citizens.

Policy Evidence and Current Landscape

The only policy interventions shown to reduce the rates or risk of household food insecurity have been those that improved the financial circumstance of vulnerable households. Canada's social safety net primarily consists of income supports at the federal level like the Canada Child Benefit, Employment Insurance, Canada Workers Benefit, GST credit, Old Age Security and the Guaranteed Income Supplement, and at the provincial/territorial level like social assistance, minimum wage, child benefits, and various other benefits. Research has identified reductions in food insecurity where policies have increased the amounts of money households receive from federal and provincial child benefits and social assistance and when households transition to more adequate and stable income support programs, like when low-income adults become eligible for public pensions (OAS/GIS) when they turn 65.^{1,43–48}

One example of policy reducing food insecurity is the Newfoundland Poverty Reduction strategy 2007 - 2012. This strategy was spearheaded by Paul Shelley of the Progressive Conservative party, who was the Minister for Human Resources, Labour, and Employment. The strategy targeted poverty through eliminating or lowering income taxes for the lowest and mid-low income households, increasing minimum wage, increasing social assistance rates, indexing them to inflation, increasing earnings exemptions for social assistance recipients, and a suite of other reforms to improve the support provided through social assistance. These changes resulted in the prevalence of food insecurity among people receiving social recipients decreasing by approximately half, which was responsible for most of the reduction in the overall rate of food insecurity. However, since 2012, backwards steps were taken due to political and economic changes which included the end of indexing benefits to inflation. As a result, food security returned to concerning baseline levels as shown in the 2017 - 2018 statistics. So

An example at the federal level is the lower risk of food insecurity for households reliant on public pensions i.e. Old Age Security and the Guaranteed Income Supplement. In addition to low rates of food insecurity, having public pensions as a household's main source of income is also independently associated with lower odds of food insecurity compared to relying on employment incomes, after controlling for other households characteristics, like household income amount. Research has shown that the risk of food insecurity for low-income, unattached adults is cut in half once they become eligible for these programs at age 65.⁴⁸

Even though the income from pension programs for seniors is relatively low, it exceeds what they would receive from social assistance programs and provides a stable source of

income, helping them cope with financial uncertainties. Additionally, public pensions are adjusted for inflation, ensuring their value doesn't decrease over time.

These results emphasize how Canada's public pension system safeguards the food security of its elderly population and underlines the insufficiency of other support programs for low-income working adults. This highlights the idea of establishing a minimum income level to shield Canadians from food insecurity, supporting the argument for implementing a Basic Income program to alleviate poverty. (ask #4)

None of the policies studied were designed to explicitly reduce the rate of food insecurity, but had that effect because they improved the financial circumstances of food-insecure households. They likely would have more impact had they designed with the outcome of food insecurity reduction in mind (ask #1). In other words, they could be more effective had they provided more money and financial security for low-income households.

Food insecurity is now identified as a key indicator of poverty in the federal poverty reduction strategy led by Employment and Social Development Canada (ESDC) and Ministry of Families, Children and Social Development, the government bodies responsible for monitoring and designing most of the income supports at the federal level. With the policy levers and monitoring, ESDC is well-positioned to make food insecurity reduction a policy objective and establish an action plan with other federal ministries, departments like Indigenous and Northern Affairs Canada, provincial counterparts, and Indigenous governments/leadership (ask #1).

Despite income support policies being the policy levers for changing the conditions that lead to food insecurity, there has yet to be any explicit action to leverage them to reduce food insecurity. Instead, policies to address food insecurity in Canada have been narrowly focused on supporting food charity. This approach fails to address the underlying cause of food insecurity. While food charity is undoubtedly appreciated by those who receive it, there is no evidence that it can make households food secure. Furthermore, most food insecure households don't use charity, exemplified by how large the number of people living in food insecure households (6.9 million) is compared to food bank usage statistics (Food Bank Canada reports 1.5 million visits for an average month in 2022). The problem is too big and severe for food charity to address.

Legislation passed in the name of addressing food insecurity or hunger encourages food donations, with laws such as "Good Samaritan" regulations across provinces and territories relieving corporate donors of liability for donated food safety and tax credits to local producers donating unsold food to community organizations in some provinces.

During the COVID-19 pandemic, both federal and provincial governments allocated significant public funds to support food charity programs as a strategy to tackle food insecurity, including an unprecedented \$330 million through the Emergency Food

Security Fund and \$50 million through the Surplus Food Rescue Program. However, a recent evaluation by the Auditor General revealed a lack of evidence demonstrating the effectiveness of these federal initiatives in reducing food insecurity. Some provinces have maintained their financial support for food banks and other community food programs in response to the exceptionally high inflation rates and cost-of-living crisis.

The only federal policy that explicitly identifies reducing food insecurity as a goal is the Local Food Infrastructure Fund as part of Canada's Food Policy, launched in 2019. Currently, the Food Policy serves as an umbrella under which many other initiatives exist, including the Northern Isolated Community Initiatives Fund, AgriCommunication Initiative, Food Waste Reduction Challenge, initiatives to address food fraud, and the development of a National School Food Program. These initiatives are important for addressing pressing food issues facing Canada like food sovereignty, food waste reduction, local food production, and child nutrition, but should not be confused with interventions to reduce food insecurity.

The Local Food Infrastructure Fund funds infrastructure and equipment for local food charity programs and other community organizations providing food assistance. The continued framing of this fund as a solution to food insecurity funding presumes that food-insecure households are accessing food charity and that doing so resolves their food insecurity. It further contributes to the entrenchment of food charity as Canada's response to food insecurity, despite recognition by charities and policy makers that policies to address inadequate incomes are needed.⁵¹

The development of a National School Food Program has also been framed as a way to address food insecurity in government documents, despite the lack of evidence. There have been numerous federal bills by members from multiple parties calling for a national school food program over the years.

A national school food program is important for many reasons like improved student nutrition, food skills, education attainment, economic development, and more. However, conflating a national school food program and addressing food insecurity detracts from both school food advocates' work to build the case for a comprehensive and universal school food policy and advocacy around making income supports for struggling families adequate for enabling them to make ends meet. ^{52,53}

The development of a national school policy has been mentioned in recent federal budgets. The Ministry of Families, Children and Social Development recently completed the first phase of consultation on the development of a national school food policy.

It is important to recognize that there is a long history of publicly funded school food programs across provinces and territories and that the establishment of a federal policy to fund, oversee, or regulate standards for these programs requires collaboration between federal, provincial, and Indigenous governments.

In the North where food insecurity rates are especially high, the federal program provides support through Nutrition North, a food subsidy program introduced in 2011 to subsidize the cost of transporting perishable, nutritious foods to the remote Northern communities. Research showing food insecurity worsening in Nunavut following the introduction of Nutrition North raises serious questions around the continued focus on food subsidies and highlights the need for more effective initiatives to address food insecurity in the North.⁵⁴

A recent study from the Standing Committee on Indigenous and Northern Affairs urged the government to acknowledge that the Nutrition North Canada program alone cannot address food insecurity.⁵⁵ The report emphasized the importance of collaborating with Inuit communities to develop Inuit-led reforms for the program and poverty reduction efforts.

Integration Barriers

Addressing food security necessitates effective integration across ministries and jurisdictions. Although there is acknowledgement of food insecurity as an urgent problem to address in both the federal poverty reduction strategy and Food Policy, there is no clear framework for collaboration on reducing food insecurity through evidence-based policy action.

The Food Policy's approach of focusing on charitable food assistance, through the Local Food Infrastructure and its surplus food distribution, actually contradicts the understanding of food insecurity reflected in poverty reduction strategy, which centres food insecurity under "dignity" because it enshrines a two-tiered food system, where some Canadians can purchase food from shops and others are relegated to food rejected from retail and distributed through charity.

Collaboratively setting legislated targets for food insecurity reduction, creating a plan using policy levers shown to have an impact, and evaluating progress along the way is necessary to move towards more effective and impactful policy making (ask #1).

The Present State

In conceptualizing barriers to food security, it is essential to consider food security in the context of current social realities. Throughout the past year, historic inflation and supply chain issues have significantly impaired Canadians' ability to afford everyday necessities including clothing, housing, food, and transportation, with people in the lowest income quintiles being disproportionately impacted.⁵⁶ Between April 2021 and 2022, the price of food increased by 9.7%.⁵⁷ In Canada, household income is the greatest predictor of food insecurity, with

lower-income households spending greater portions of their income on non-negotiable necessities such as housing.⁵⁸ Cost of housing, particularly rent, has increased at an unprecedented rate. The rise in interest rates also puts additional stress on households with mortgages or servicing other debts. As the cost of living rises, people are making sacrifices to various facets of their health and well-being, including their meals.⁵⁹ A survey conducted by Canada Food Banks finds that three of five people in Canada reported housing-related costs as the greatest barrier to affording food, a statistic which has increased from one in five in 2019. With food insecurity at a record high in 2022 and high and increasing costs of living since, there is an urgent need for policy action to prevent the worsening of food insecurity and its impact on Canada's health and well-being.

Historical Social Determinant of Health Landscape in Canada

Although Canada's reputation for healthcare access is embedded within its national identity, there remain significant gaps in Canada's approach to social determinants of health, including food security. Despite a substantial history of stated commitments to various international human rights accords that endorse the right to food, little progress has been made domestically.⁶⁰ A key challenge to addressing food insecurity is a tendency to approach health problems in North America through the lens of individualism. Individualism entails the attribution of one's socio-economic status to personal efforts, thus relegating one's health and well-being to the domain of individual responsibility. The commitment to individualism neglects the potential of advocacy and societal reorganization.⁶¹

Concurrently, the shift towards neoliberal policy has entailed stricter eligibility for social security programs and decreased funding for social services.⁶² A key moment of governmental restructuring occurred in 1995, when the federal government dissolved the Canada Assistance Plan and installed in its place the Canadian Health and Social Transfer plan (CGST).⁶³ In the Canada Assistance Plan, money was allocated to specific social services but with the CGST, the decisions regarding monetary allocation are left to provincial governments.⁶⁰ In the aftermath of this reform, spending towards welfare and social services declined and Canadian food banks were left to respond to these gaps.⁶³ While food banks are an important resource providing short-term relief for many Canadians, these agencies often lack the adequate resources to sufficiently address nutritional demands. Fundamentally, food banks fail to address the social structures and policies that ultimately underlie and perpetuate food insecurity in Canada.⁶⁴ The first food bank in Canada opened over 40 years ago and community food assistance has continued to grow exponentially to support the continued need.

Food insecurity has been monitored systematically for almost decades and the patterns of vulnerability (low income, renters, social assistance recipients, those with children especially lone-parents) have been long documented. However, food insecurity has persisted at high rates in Canada, with the latest estimates showing an increase to the highest rate recorded.

References

- 1. An exploration of the unprecedented decline in the prevalence of household food insecurity in Newfoundland and Labrador, 2007-2012. Canadian Research Data Centre Network. Published September 21, 2021. Accessed September 15, 2023.
 - https://crdcn.ca/publication/an-exploration-of-the-unprecedented-decline-in-the-prevalence-of-household-food-insecurity-in-newfoundland-and-labrador-2007-2012/.
- 2. Tarasuk V. Household Food Insecurity in Canada. Top Clin Nutr. 2005;20(4):299.
- 3. Tarasuk V, Fafard St-Germain AA, Li T. Moment of reckoning for household food insecurity monitoring in Canada. *Health Promot Chronic Dis Prev Can.* 2022;42(10):445-449.
- 4. Household food insecurity in Canada, 2021. PROOF. Published August 16, 2022. Accessed October 27, 2023. https://proof.utoronto.ca/resource/household-food-insecurity-in-canada-2021/
- Government of Canada, Canada S. Canadian income survey: Territorial estimates, 2021. Published June 21, 2023. Accessed October 13, 2023. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/daily-quotidien/230621/dq230621c-eng.htm
- 6. The Expert Panel on the State of Knowledge of Food Security in Northern Canada. *Aboriginal Food Security in Northern Canada: An Assessment of the State of Knowledge: The Expert Panel on the State of Knowledge of Food Security in Northern Canada*. Council of CanadianAcademies; 2014.
- 7. McIntyre L, Bartoo AC, Emery JCH. When working is not enough: food insecurity in the Canadian labour force. *Public Health Nutr.* 2014;17(1):49-57.
- 8. Vozoris NT, Tarasuk VS. Household food insufficiency is associated with poorer health. *J Nutr*. 2003;133(1):120-126.
- 9. Che J, Chen J. Food insecurity in Canadian households. *Health Rep.* 2001;12(4):11-22.
- McIntyre L, Connor SK, Warren J. Child hunger in Canada: results of the 1994 National Longitudinal Survey of Children and Youth. CMAJ. 2000;163(8):961-965.
- 11. Tarasuk V, Li T, Fafard St-Germain AA. Household food insecurity in Canada, 2021. Published online August 2022. Accessed September 15, 2023. https://tspace.library.utoronto.ca/handle/1807/124523
- 12. New data on household food insecurity in 2022. PROOF. Published May 2, 2023. Accessed October 13, 2023. https://proof.utoronto.ca/2023/new-data-on-household-food-insecurity-in-2022/
- 13. Kirkpatrick SI, Tarasuk V. Food insecurity is associated with nutrient inadequacies among Canadian adults and adolescents. *J Nutr.* 2008;138(3):604-612.
- 14. Hutchinson J, Tarasuk V. The relationship between diet quality and the severity of household food insecurity in Canada. *Public Health Nutr.* 2022;25(4):1013-1026.
- 15. Tait CA, L'Abbé MR, Smith PM, Rosella LC. The association between food insecurity and incident type 2 diabetes in Canada: A population-based cohort study. *PLoS One*. 2018;13(5):e0195962.
- 16. Jessiman-Perreault G, McIntyre L. The household food insecurity gradient and potential reductions in adverse population mental health outcomes in Canadian adults. *SSM Popul Health*. 2017;3:464-472.
- 17. Tarasuk V, Mitchell A, McLaren L, McIntyre L. Chronic physical and mental health conditions among adults may increase vulnerability to household food insecurity. *J Nutr.* 2013;143(11):1785-1793.
- 18. Men F, Gundersen C, Urquia ML, Tarasuk V. Association between household food insecurity and mortality in Canada: a population-based retrospective cohort study. *CMAJ*. 2020;192(3):E53-E60.
- 19. Men F, Gundersen C, Urquia ML, Tarasuk V. Food Insecurity Is Associated With Higher Health Care Use And Costs Among Canadian Adults. *Health Aff* . 2020;39(8):1377-1385.
- 20. Tarasuk V, Cheng J, de Oliveira C, Dachner N, Gundersen C, Kurdyak P. Association between household food insecurity and annual health care costs. *CMAJ*. 2015;187(14):E429-E436.
- 21. Conger RD, Wallace LE, Sun Y, Simons RL, McLoyd VC, Brody GH. Economic pressure in African American families: a replication and extension of the family stress model. *Dev Psychol.* 2002;38(2):179-193.
- 22. Forget EL. New questions, new data, old interventions: the health effects of a guaranteed annual income. *Prev Med.* 2013;57(6):925-928.
- 23. Tarasuk V, Fafard St-Germain AA, Mitchell A. Geographic and socio-demographic predictors of household food insecurity in Canada, 2011–12. *BMC Public Health*. 2019;19(1):1-12.
- 24. McIntyre L, Walsh G, Connor S. *A Follow-up Study of Child Hunger in Canada*. Applied Research Branch, Human Resources Development Canada Ottawa (Canada); 2001.
- 25. Chan L, Batal M, Sadik T, Tikhonov C, Schwartz H. FNFNES final report for eight Assembly of First Nations regions: draft comprehensive technical report. *Assembly of First Nations*.

- 26. Dhunna S, Tarasuk V. Black—white racial disparities in household food insecurity from 2005 to 2014, Canada. *Can J Public Health*. 2021:112(5):888-902.
- 27. Batal M, Chan HM, Fediuk K, et al. First Nations households living on-reserve experience food insecurity: prevalence and predictors among ninety-two First Nations communities across Canada. *Can J Public Health*. 2021;112(Suppl 1):52-63.
- 28. Richmond C, Steckley M, Neufeld H, Kerr RB, Wilson K, Dokis B. First Nations Food Environments: Exploring the Role of Place, Income, and Social Connection. *Curr Dev Nutr.* 2020;4(8):nzaa108.
- Relations CI, Northern Affairs Canada. Immediate Updates to the Nutrition North Canada and Harvesters Support Grant Programs. Government of Canada. Published December 10, 2018. Accessed September 15, 2023.
 - https://www.canada.ca/en/crown-indigenous-relations-northern-affairs/news/2018/12/immediate-updates-to-the-nutrition-north-canada-and-harvesters-support-grant-programs.html
- 30. CDC. Micronutrient facts. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Published February 1, 2022. Accessed September 15, 2023. https://www.cdc.gov/nutrition/micronutrient-malnutrition/micronutrients/index.html
- 31. Sight and life micronutrients, macro impact. Issuu. Published January 23, 2015. Accessed September 15, 2023. https://issuu.com/sight and life/docs/micronutriens macro impact
- 32. Tarasuk V, Gundersen C, Wang X, Roth DE, Urquia ML. Maternal Food Insecurity is Positively Associated with Postpartum Mental Disorders in Ontario, Canada. *J Nutr.* 2020;150(11):3033-3040.
- 33. Orr SK, Dachner N, Frank L, Tarasuk V. Relation between household food insecurity and breastfeeding in Canada. *CMAJ*. 2018;190(11):E312-E319.
- 34. Men F, Fischer B, Urquia ML, Tarasuk V. Food insecurity, chronic pain, and use of prescription opioids. *SSM Popul Health*. 2021;14:100768.
- 35. Men F, Gundersen C, Urquia ML, Tarasuk V. Prescription medication nonadherence associated with food insecurity: a population-based cross-sectional study. *CMAJ Open*. 2019;7(3):E590-E597.
- 36. Polsky JY, Gilmour H. Food insecurity and mental health during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Health Rep.* 2020;31(12):3-11.
- 37. Tarasuk V, Cheng J, Gundersen C, de Oliveira C, Kurdyak P. The Relation between Food Insecurity and Mental Health Care Service Utilization in Ontario. *Can J Psychiatry*. 2018;63(8):557-569.
- 38. Melchior M, Chastang JF, Falissard B, et al. Food insecurity and children's mental health: a prospective birth cohort study. *PLoS One*. 2012;7(12):e52615.
- 39. Kirkpatrick SI, McIntyre L, Potestio ML. Child hunger and long-term adverse consequences for health. *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med.* 2010;164(8):754-762.
- 40. Ovenell M, Azevedo Da Silva M, Elgar FJ. Shielding children from food insecurity and its association with mental health and well-being in Canadian households. *Can J Public Health*. 2022;113(2):250-259.
- 41. What are the implications of food insecurity for health and health care? PROOF. Published September 9, 2022. Accessed September 15, 2023. https://proof.utoronto.ca/food-insecurity/what-are-the-implications-of-food-insecurity-for-health-and-health-ca
- 42. Fitzpatrick T, Rosella LC, Calzavara A, et al. Looking Beyond Income and Education: Socioeconomic Status Gradients Among Future High-Cost Users of Health Care. *Am J Prev Med.* 2015;49(2):161-171.
- 43. Brown EM, Tarasuk V. Money speaks: Reductions in severe food insecurity follow the Canada Child Benefit. *Prev Med.* 2019;129:105876.
- 44. Ionescu-Ittu R, Glymour MM, Kaufman JS. A difference-in-differences approach to estimate the effect of income-supplementation on food insecurity. *Prev Med.* 2015;70:108-116.
- 45. Men F, Urquia ML, Tarasuk V. The role of provincial social policies and economic environments in shaping food insecurity among Canadian families with children. *Prev Med.* 2021;148:106558.
- 46. Li N, Dachner N, Tarasuk V. The impact of changes in social policies on household food insecurity in British Columbia, 2005–2012. *Prev Med* . 2016;93:151-158.
- 47. Tarasuk V, Li N, Dachner N, Mitchell A. Household Food Insecurity in Ontario during a Period of Poverty Reduction, 2005–2014. *Can Public Policy*. 2019;45(1):93-104.
- 48. McIntyre L, Dutton DJ, Kwok C, Emery JCH. Reduction of Food Insecurity among Low-Income Canadian Seniors as a Likely Impact of a Guaranteed Annual Income. *Can Public Policy*. 2016;42(3):274-286.
- 49. Government of Newfoundland Poverty.pdf.
- 50. Hussain Z, Tarasuk V. A comparison of household food insecurity rates in Newfoundland and Labrador in 2011-2012 and 2017-2018. *Can J Public Health*. 2022;113(2):239-249.
- 51. Li T, Tarasuk V. Canada's national food policy is at risk of enshrining a two-tiered food system. The

- Conversation. Published online June 5, 2023. Accessed October 27, 2023. http://theconversation.com/canadas-national-food-policy-is-at-risk-of-enshrining-a-two-tiered-food-system-20 5741
- 52. Open Letter: Stop headlining the pan-Canadian school food policy as a way to reduce food insecurity among children. PROOF. Published December 9, 2022. Accessed October 27, 2023. https://proof.utoronto.ca/resource/open-letter-on-school-food-policy-consultation/
- 53. Power E, Brady J, Day D. A national school food policy is no substitute for reducing food insecurity. Policy Options. Published January 13, 2023. Accessed October 27, 2023. https://policyoptions.irpp.org/magazines/january-2023/a-national-school-food-policy-is-no-substitute-for-reducing-food-insecurity/
- 54. St-Germain AAF, Galloway T, Tarasuk V. Food insecurity in Nunavut following the introduction of Nutrition North Canada. *CMAJ*. 2019;191(20):E552-E558.
- 55. Welcome to the House of Commons of Canada House of Commons of Canada. Accessed October 27, 2023. https://www.ourcommons.ca/
- 56. HungerCount 2022. Accessed September 15, 2023. https://hungercount.foodbankscanada.ca/policies.php
- 57. Government of Canada, Canada S. Rising prices are affecting the ability to meet day-to-day expenses for most Canadians. Published June 9, 2022. Accessed September 15, 2023. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/daily-quotidien/220609/dq220609a-eng.htm
- 58. Enough-for-All Household-Food-Security-in-Canada -CBoC.pdf.
- 59. HungerCount 2022. Accessed September 15, 2023. https://hungercount.foodbankscanada.ca/policies.php
- 60. Western Libraries Off-Campus Access To Electronic Resources. Accessed September 15, 2023. https://www.cambridge.org/core/journals/public-health-nutrition/article/bringing-home-the-right-to-food-in-canada-challenges-and-possibilities-for-achieving-food-security/129A862518B304ED08C76F77D328671A
- 61. Power E, Belyea S, Collins P. "It's not a food issue; it's an income issue": using Nutritious Food Basket costing for health equity advocacy. *Can J Public Health*. 2019;110(3):294-302.
- 62. Raphael D, Curry-Stevens A, Bryant T. Barriers to addressing the social determinants of health: insights from the Canadian experience. *Health Policy*. 2008;88(2-3):222-235.
- 63. Carson EA. Canadian Food Banks and the Depoliticization of Food Insecurity at the Individual and Community Levels. *Canadian Review of Social Policy*. 2013;(70):7-21.
- 64. Mendly-Zambo Z, Raphael D, Taman A. Take the money and run: how food banks became complicit with Walmart Canada's hunger producing employment practices. *Crit Public Health*. 2023;33(1):60-71.